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INTRODUCTION


If becoming the UK’s City of Culture in 2021 does anything for Coventry, it ought to dispel the notion that the city that sits astride the centrefold of England is a shadowy, dull place that has contributed very little to the nation’s story.


Once a medieval boom town, with a hotline into the centres of royal power, it was a key player in the dynastic wars of the fifteenth century and then a focus for dissent in the age of King versus Parliament.


Slumbering in its venerable street pattern over much of the next 200 years, it then took a wild lurch in a new direction, as first bicycles, then motor cars, took the place of its traditional staple industries, weaving and watch-making.


As the only place in this country forced to make the leap straight from the end of the Middle Ages into the twentieth century, Coventry rapidly outgrew itself, becoming by turns a high-wage economy for the working man and then an unemployment trap as whole industries deserted it in the 1980s.


To paraphrase the city’s most famous cultural export, the poet Philip Larkin, ‘it wasn’t the place’s fault’, but in being forced to grapple with fundamental change time and time again, Coventry somehow lost its sense of identity, forfeiting the continuity that other historic cities in this country have enjoyed.


And yet. The city’s uncanny ability to reinvent itself in the direst of circumstances is resurfacing again in the post-industrial world in which it now finds itself. Its two successful universities are the principal dynamos of an economy shorn of the manufacturing giants that once shaped it, but better balanced for the challenges ahead.


Even the severe and unadorned architecture of its post-1945 rebirth, universally mocked for two generations, is now suddenly in fashion and on trend. The next chapter in its thousand-year story looks intriguing.
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OUT OF THE SHADOWS


In his magisterial county history The Antiquities Of Warwickshire, Sir William Dugdale was uncharacteristically coy about the origins of Coventry. ‘I am content to leave the period of obscure beginnings unexplored,’ he wrote, ‘confessing that I have so little of story to guide me through these elder times.’


Dugdale was writing in 1656, but more than 350 years later, that cautionary note still sounds. We are still unable to pin down with any certainty when, how or even exactly where this place had its beginnings.


That human beings have populated this well-watered and gently undulating corner of central England for millennia is not in doubt. In 2002 archaeologists identified an Iron Age village comprising at least seventeen dwellings on the campus of the University of Warwick, to the south-west of modern Coventry. Within the last decade, excavations to the south-east of the city, on the site of Orchard Retail Park, have thrown up an iron linchpin and horses’ teeth from what is believed to be a late Iron Age chariot burial.


Roman roads criss-cross this part of the country, with Fosse Way and Watling Street passing to the east and north, less than 10 miles from Coventry. Yet the Lunt, the first-century auxiliary fort at nearby Baginton, remains the only significant Roman site in the vicinity.


Evidence from farmstead sites has been found in Coventry city centre, while Roman coin hoards discovered over the past couple of centuries close to what’s now the Foleshill Road hint at an ancient trunk road, passing over a river crossing right at the heart of the modern city.


In 1933, local archaeologist John Shelton found the contents of a Roman lady’s satchel in the River Sherbourne at Cox Street, complete with rings and toilet items for nails and ears. Yet if there was a settlement, perhaps gathered around that river crossing, in the centuries before Rome pulled out of Britain, its whereabouts have so far remained elusive.


A SAXON TOWN


The Domesday survey, that great Norman inventory of plundering possibilities, characterises Coventry as a scattered rural community, in which perhaps 300 people scratched a living from a large expanse of arable land, using twenty ploughs, and controlled a substantial area of woodland, covering about 2 square miles.


Yet that is literally less than half the story. The consensus among historians now is that by the late Saxon period, just before the Conquest, Coventry was a modest-sized town with a population of around 1,200 and, almost certainly, its own minster church.


The number of Old English ‘ley’ word-endings in local place names, denoting a clearing in woodland, would suggest settled occupation going back much further, on the edges of what now appears to us as the legendary, almost supernatural Forest of Arden. There’s evidence that Arden as a dense, continuous woodland of the sort beloved of big screen outlaws, had receded by Roman times. But the Saxon settlers and farmers who followed still clearly associated their new homeland with tree-clearing, and places like Allesley, Binley and Keresley are still classified as part of Coventry’s ancient Arden landscape.
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A sample from Domesday Book. (The History Press)


Pottery finds from an archaeological dig in the Palmer Lane area of the city centre, as recently as December 2017, have given new impetus to the theory that the earliest Anglo-Saxon settlement was there, close to the river. They were supported by the remarkable discovery of a stone causeway, with plant material on its surface still flattened into layers by the trampling of livestock, perhaps being driven to market, more than a thousand years ago.


WHAT’S IN A NAME?


Over the past century of scholarship a number of contenders have emerged. Could the name ‘Coventry’ have its origins in an ancient description of physical features in the landscape, principally a hillside and a cave? Or might it stem from the Roman water goddess Coventina, based on the tradition that the Roman general Agricola established a camp on Barrs Hill, north of the river, and set up a shrine nearby?


Increasing evidence for a settled, mature community around that river, centuries before the Norman Conquest, has, however, persuaded modern thinking that the city’s name is much more likely to have its roots in the identity of a local Saxon landowner, Cofa, and a tree that marked the extent of his lordship.


We know nothing of Cofa himself, but trees were often used as boundary markers or objects of sacred veneration by the Saxons, and Cofa’s tree might simply have been the mightiest of many. Recent archaeology has identified oak woodlands stretching right down to the north bank of the river, where Coventry’s transport museum now stands.


ST OSBURG


Cofa might possess the naming rights, but was a woman actually the earliest known person with Coventry connections?


Her name was Osburga (‘Osburg’ in modern parlance). She was in religious orders and was reputed to be one of the nuns who left their house at Barking in Essex towards the end of the seventh century to found their own monastic settlements.


Osburg was abbess, it was said, of a nunnery established close to the River Sherbourne, and a reference to that foundation appears in some flyleaf jottings on a bound set of anonymous sermons, dating from the late fourteenth century:




In ancient times on the bank of the river called by the inhabitants Sherbourne, which flows right through the centre of Coventry, there was formerly a monastery of young women dedicated to God.





Osburg remains a shadowy figure; she was later canonised but we know little more about her than that. The fate of her nunnery is a rather better known element of this old story. It was destroyed, the chroniclers recorded, in 1016 when a Danish army led by Canute, on his way to seizing the throne of England, ravaged Warwickshire.


While no hard evidence for that cataclysmic event has yet been unearthed, there are tantalising glimpses of a Danish presence in the area. Scandinavian names are surprisingly common among the inhabitants of twelfth- and thirteenth-century Coventry, while the city’s Hock Tuesday play, performed on the second Tuesday after Easter from around 1416 until the early years of the seventeenth century, was said to owe its origins to celebrations of victory in battle against the Danes.


St Osburg herself certainly lingered in Coventry’s collective memory. A shrine to her was established in the later cathedral of St Mary, and her head, enclosed in copper and gilt, was listed as one of its most important relics. In 1408, the Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, John Burghill, responding to public pleas, ordered that her feast day of 30 March should be celebrated in the city.


A MINSTER CHURCH?


St Osburg’s head was not the only relic of a cadaver housed in the cathedral. In 1022, Archbishop Aethelnoth, while in Rome to be formally installed as Archbishop of Canterbury by Pope Benedict VIII, purchased a holy relic, the arm of St Augustine of Hippo. The chroniclers say that he paid 100 silver talents and one gold talent for it, and, more importantly, that on his return to England he gave it to the church in Coventry.


Whether that was a building associated with St Osburg’s nunnery or, as many historians now believe, a Minster church for the growing community, is still open to question.


No foundation charter or documentary evidence exists for a Saxon minster at Coventry, but burials found during major excavations on the site of the first cathedral, St Mary’s, in the early 2000s have been carbon-dated in the range of AD 700 to 980. There is also a further indicator in the location of the cathedral itself.


Very unusually, it does not lie at the top of what is now known as Hill Top, but on a site falling away to the north. The reason for that must be that there was already an ecclesiastical building of some kind at the summit of the hill, where Holy Trinity now stands.


The failure by the Domesday compilers to register the greater part of the Saxon town, in size perhaps similar to Warwick, is not unique. There are plenty of towns known to have existed at the time that do not feature at all in the Domesday survey, the ancient city of Winchester being an example. What was recorded of Coventry by the inventory clerks, it’s now believed, was merely its rural hinterland.


LEOFRIC AND GODIVA


Whatever came before them, there is no dispute that in the year 1043, Leofric, Earl of Mercia, and his wife Godgifu (Godiva to us) came to an agreement with the Benedictine order to dedicate a house of abbot and twenty-four monks at Coventry.
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A stained-glass image from the Benedictines’ great cathedral. Could this be Godiva? (Continuum Group)


Neither could claim local antecedents. Godiva’s origins remain obscure, although a fourteenth-century reference indicates that she was sister to Thorold, Sheriff of Lincolnshire, and may have spent her early life in that part of eastern England.


Leofric was probably born in the 990s, the third son of Leofwine, Ealdorman of the Hwicce, a Saxon tribal grouping that held sway over much of Worcestershire and south Warwickshire. Both his elder brothers had died in war, and in the maelstrom of pre-Conquest politics it may have suited him to establish a foothold in Coventry, in a corner of Mercia fairly distant from his own power base.


History has downplayed the importance of Leofric in the story of eleventh-century England. A protégé of Canute, he was one of a triumvirate of earls (Godwin of Wessex and Siward of Northumbria were the others) who held the ring in the turbulent years that followed the end of Danish rule in England in the early 1040s.


On his death in 1057, the eulogies described him as devout and illustrious, while the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle paid tribute to him as ‘very wise in all matters, both religious and secular’. He was buried, the chroniclers agree, in a side chapel of his new abbey church of St Mary in Coventry, a foundation richly endowed with more than twenty estates, spread not only across Warwickshire, but Northamptonshire and Cheshire as well.


GODIVA’s RIDE


For all his achievements, Leofric plays a subsidiary and brutish role in the story that persists, almost a thousand years later, of the saintly Godiva’s legendary ride to free the people of Coventry from unjust taxation.


That the real Godiva, who died ten years after her husband, was beautiful and of a saintly disposition seems plausible – all the stories that emerged later agree on that point. That she rode naked through the streets to free the people of taxes imposed by the ‘grim earl’ is, however, pure myth.


The tale, which emerged some 150 years after her death, owes something to the northern European pagan fertility rite that pairs a naked woman and a horse, and a lot more to inventive Benedictine monks keen to promote their Coventry foundation and highlight the sanctity of this most appealing of benefactors. Peeping Tom, the hapless tailor struck blind for daring to take a look at those long white legs, is an even later invention, from the sixteenth century.


Godiva’s status (she was the only female Saxon landowner to be named in the Domesday survey) would not have permitted her to make a public gesture of that kind, and in any event, it was she who owned the lands on which the beginnings of Coventry were emerging and therefore would be the recipient of taxes raised from the inhabitants.


Nevertheless, the legend of the saintly Godiva and her selfless gesture became embedded in Coventry imaginations. More than once during the centuries that followed her death the townsfolk summoned up her example to assert their defiance when they felt themselves threatened by powerful interests.


Although she had a place in the Great Fair processions of the late Middle Ages, perhaps surprisingly, the good lady was not their central figure; another character from local myth, the dragon-slaying patron saint, St George, took precedence.


That changed, however, in 1678, when those with commercial interests in the town, fearing competition from a fast-emerging Birmingham, decided that she, not old St George in his armour, would attract the crowds. She was played that year by a boy, the young son of one James Swinnerton, but by the nineteenth century the role was taken by actresses, whose enthusiasm for the part, among the ribaldry of the crowds, often brought out senior clergy in a rash of condemnation.


Alfred Lord Tennyson went back to the chaste Godiva for his poem Godiva, written after he had made a railway excursion to Coventry in the early 1840s. Words from his poem were used on the imposing statue of Godiva, unveiled by the wife of the United States Ambassador to Britain in Broadgate in 1949.


More recently, this thousand-year-old icon has given her name to the annual summer Godiva Festival in Coventry and to Godiva’s Day, which falls on 10 September, the supposed date of her death in 1067. The day celebrates selfless compassion and social justice, themes that still resonate in the modern world.


In 2012, she was given new shape in a 20ft-high animatronic figure that made its way, by cycle power, to London for the Olympic Games. There she represented the West Midlands region in the cultural Olympiad, under the banner ‘Godiva Awakes’.


The myth endures.
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THE EARLY TOWN


Whatever the true scale of Coventry at the time of the Domesday Book, we know almost nothing about the lives of the people who called it home in the early years of Norman rule. There are reasons for that. Coventry seems to have been particularly unlucky, or neglectful, in preserving the written record of its early history. Henry VIII’s brutal dissolution of the monasteries at the end of the 1530s tore the heart out of the town and destroyed documentary evidence, both monastic and secular, by the cartload.


A catastrophic fire in Birmingham Library archives in 1879, and Second World War bomb damage, compounded these losses, and it has to be said that the preservation of heritage has not always been given high priority by those who have shaped Coventry in the modern world.


More importantly, Coventry’s rise to become one of England’s richest and most powerful towns happened fast and late. The boom town of the late fourteenth century was only just beginning to make its mark on England by the middle of the thirteenth century. As the Victoria County History of Warwickshire somewhat snootily put it, ‘there is little evidence for the social history of Coventry before the fourteenth century’. This is not quite true, but life in the decades after the Conquest remains largely a shadow play, except for the poisonous and, to our eyes, astonishing chapter of conflict among those supposed to be doing God’s work in these parts.


BISHOPS VERSUS MONKS


The dispute had its origins in the new Anglo-Norman administration’s desire to see a bishop, operating in a clearly defined see, or diocese, take precedence over a monastic foundation, however powerful and well-endowed. From the start, Coventry’s Benedictine Abbey was certainly that. The Benedictine chronicler John of Worcester, writing nearly a hundred years later, claimed that Leofric and Godiva had ‘endowed it adequately with lands and made it so rich in various ornaments that in no monastery in England might be found the abundance of gold, silver, gems and precious stones that was at that time in its possession’.


Yet its location made it geographically part of the Mercian see, with its episcopal centre at Lichfield, and in 1075, Lanfranc, Archbishop of Canterbury, muddied the waters still further when he ordered that the see should be moved from modest Lichfield to the much bigger town of Chester, whose imposing foundations had been laid on top of the original Roman legionary fortress.


Lanfranc’s reasoning – that a diocese should be based in a significant urban centre rather than a small town that was little more than a village – was sound. But it was a move that the Benedictine monks of Coventry would quickly come to regret.


ROBERT DE LIMESEY


Enter the first real villain in Coventry’s story: the rapacious Robert de Limesey, a former chaplain to William the Conqueror with powerful connections to the heart of government, who was consecrated Bishop of Chester in 1086. Within a couple of years, Archbishop Lanfranc was ordering de Limesey to relieve the burdens he had imposed on the monks at Coventry and restore what he had taken from them. He had been accused of breaking into the monks’ dormitory by force, with armed men at his back, wrenching open their strong box, and stealing the contents, as well as horses and other goods.
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A Benedictine monk from the eleventh century. (Image courtesy of the Thomas Fisher Rare Books Library, University of Toronto)


Worse was to come. Chester, close to the troublesome Welsh Marches, was proving a little too turbulent for de Limesey’s taste, and in 1102 he successfully petitioned Pope Paschal II to move the see back to the Midlands, not to modest Lichfield, but to well-endowed Coventry. The move instantly turned the Abbey of St Mary into a cathedral, downgraded the Benedictine abbot to prior, and more importantly, brought their tormentor much closer to the monks.


The twelfth-century chronicler and historian William of Malmesbury, admittedly himself a Benedictine, did not mince his words in his judgment of de Limesey. The bishop, he claimed, was an embezzler who had stolen treasures from the abbey church, scraping from one beam supporting a shrine, silver worth a hefty 500 marks (at a time when a mark was worth two-thirds of a pound).


Moreover, he had allowed abbey buildings to collapse, spending money instead on his own projects, possibly including a new bishop’s palace. He had fed the monks inferior victuals and deprived them of learning so that they were unable to oppose his wishes.


Whatever the truth of these allegations, de Limesey clearly sprang from that branch of the Anglo-Norman clergy who believed that a comfortable life in this world was no barrier to salvation in the next. When he died in 1117, his bishopric was left vacant for four years, much to the relief, no doubt, of those persecuted Benedictines.


THE BENEDICTINES IN COVENTRY


We know very little about the daily lives of these monkish Coventrians. While other Benedictine foundations like Evesham managed to preserve their early records, Coventry did not, almost certainly because at the Dissolution Henry VIII’s commissioners put a match to them. We do, however, know what the monks looked like, thanks to a description that has come down to us from one of Coventry’s later historians, Sir William Dugdale:




A black coat, loose and divided down to their heels, with a cowl or hood that is shorter than others use. Underneath a white woollen coat, a hair shirt, with boots to the knees and heads shaved with a razor on top, called a corona.





The religious life they lived was intense. Every few hours, throughout the day and night, they were expected to attend services of formal worship. Study and contemplation filled many more hours, but while salvation of the soul was paramount, the Benedictines were far from an unworldly order. Skills of administration and business acumen were much prized, while their instinct for self-preservation was always fierce and could be highly developed. In some circumstances they were experts at being economical with the truth. It was the monks at Coventry who almost certainly invented the story of Lady Godiva’s legendary naked ride, a century and a half after her death, to promote their own connections to such a saintly benefactor.


Very few of Coventry’s early charters, said to have been secured by the monks, have turned out to be genuine, and many have one thing in common. They give the Benedictines full licence to pursue their interests, in trade or religion, free from outside interference. But to the order must go the credit for establishing a market at the gates of its priory, the cornerstone of Coventry’s rise to become one of England’s wealthiest and most important towns.


THE EARLS OF CHESTER


If the Benedictines had been instrumental in kick-starting the growth of an identifiable, urban Coventry, it was another Anglo-Norman force, this time secular, that gave it real acceleration. Hugh d’Avranches, first Earl of Chester, had acquired the estates once held by Godiva in the 1080s, but over the next forty years neither Hugh nor his successors paid much attention to their landholdings in Coventry, a tiny patch of ground in a fiefdom that ranged right across England and France.


However, the fourth earl, Ranulf II, who succeeded to the earldom in 1129, took a different view. As a military figure of some note, Ranulf had a keen sense of strategy and clearly saw Coventry as important to his family’s future. Almost the first thing he did, possibly as early as 1130, was to begin work on some form of castle – little more, perhaps, than a fortified mound. Its exact whereabouts have remained a mystery to this day, yet place names in modern Coventry’s city centre clearly speak of a fortification – Broadgate, Bayley Lane, Castle Yard and even Hay Lane (from ‘haeg’, meaning enclosure, not fodder for livestock).


Ranulf also seems to have erected a small chapel, later rebuilt in the fourteenth century as the imposing St Michael’s Church, on the northern edge of his bailey, very close to the Benedictines’ own small chapel, first recorded in 1113 and also later reconstructed as Holy Trinity Church. With hindsight, this looks like the opening move in the struggle between the priors and their secular rivals that split the emerging town into two halves and characterised its growth before the fourteenth century.


RANULF’s CHARTER


For the townsfolk, the presence of such powerful competing interests must have offered the prospect of burgeoning prosperity, particularly as it was beginning to give Coventry a regional profile as a place of some potential. That optimistic view was no doubt reinforced by Ranulf’s assignment to those inhabitants, possibly as early as the 1140s, of a grant of liberties conferring rights that in effect marked the beginnings of civic government for the town. In it, the earl states that the burgesses of Coventry may hold their property in free burgage, allowing them to pass it on to their heirs, and that they should have their own court (‘portmanmote’) in which to settle disputes between themselves and the earl. They would be able to elect one of their number to represent them in their dealings with the earl. They would have the right to bring before the court errant merchants and could expect security for any loans made to the earl or his men. Furthermore, new investors in the town would be exempt from charges and taxes for two years, from the date they began building.
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Henry II’s charter of 1182. (Image courtesy of Culture Coventry (Coventry Archives))


Nearly forty years later, Ranulf’s grant was to be confirmed in a charter, formally signed off by Henry II at Marlborough in early 1182, that survives as possibly the earliest of Coventry’s founding charters to be free of the taint of forgery.


At the time, Ranulf’s grant of liberties appears to have had an immediate impact. There is evidence that Coventry’s population showed a marked increase around the middle of the twelfth century, and the earl’s inward investment incentives can take credit for that.


THE ANARCHY


Sadly, the rumble of civil war was already approaching to interrupt the hopes and dreams of those newly enfranchised burgesses. It was later dubbed the Anarchy, but was in essence a power struggle between Henry I’s daughter Matilda, and her cousin Stephen, Count of Mortain.
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